Bose polaron in a quantum fluid of light

A. Vashisht^{1*}, M. Richard², A. Minguzzi³

Univ. Grenoble Alpes, CNRS, LPMMC, 38000 Grenoble, France
 Univ. Grenoble Alpes, CNRS, Grenoble INP, Institut Néel , 38000 Grenoble, France
 Univ. Grenoble Alpes, CNRS, LPMMC, 38000 Grenoble, France
 * amit.vashisht@lpmmc.cnrs.fr

July 12, 2021

Abstract

We study the Bose-polaron problem in a nonequilibrium setting, by considering an impurity embedded in a quantum fluid of light realized by excitonpolaritons in a microcavity, subject to a coherent drive and dissipation on account of pump and cavity losses. We obtain the polaron effective mass, the drag force acting on the impurity, and determine polaron trajectories at a semiclassical level. We find different dynamical regimes, originating from the unique features of the excitation spectrum of driven-dissipative polariton fluids, in particular a non-trivial regime of motion against the flow. Our work promotes the study of impurity dynamics as an alternative testbed for probing superfluidity in quantum fluids of light.

Contents

1	Introduction	2
2	Physical system and model Hamiltonian	3
	2.1 Bogoliubov approximation	4
	2.2 Lee Low Pines transformation	6
3	Quantum dynamical equations and observables	6
	3.1 Dynamics of the fluid excitations	7
	3.2 Effective mass of polarons	8
	3.3 Drag force	8
	3.4 Polaron trajectory	9
4	Results	9
	4.1 Effective mass of the polaron	9
	4.2 Drag force	11
	4.3 Polaron dynamics	11
5	Conclusions and outlook	13
A	Generalized Bogoliubov transformation	14
В	Further Results	15
	B.1 Case of moving fluid	15

B.2 Varying mass ratios

References

16

16

1 Introduction

In vacuum, light can exchange momentum and energy with free moving particles via the mechanism of radiation pressure. When a photon impinges a particle (e.g. an atom, a glass bead, an interplanetary probe) it can be absorbed, refracted and/or scattered, thereby transferring a fraction of its momentum and energy to the particle, which is thus accelerated and steered by light. This mechanism is at the basis of several key applications and phenomena such as ultracold atom cooling [1, 2], cavity quantum optomechanics [3], as well as in proposed interplanetary probes design [4]

This picture is expected to be profoundly modified and enriched for photons propagating in solids, and all the more so for photons strongly dressed with electronic excitations, such as in semiconductor microcavities in the strong coupling regime between excitons (bound electron hole pair excitation) and cavity photons [5–8]. In this case, the dressed photons are called excitons-polaritons (polaritons) [9], and they are characterized by twobody interactions and quantum many-body effects [9] such as collective excitations [10–12]. Experimentally, the polariton quantum fluid [13,14] can be generated in a well-defined momentum state and sent to collide against a fixed obstacle (e.g. a localized barrier potential) or a quantum impurity provided e.g. by free electrons, free dark excitons, or polaritons in a different polarization state with respect to the fluid. The fixed-obstacle case has been examined both theoretically [15–18] and experimentally [19, 20]: it was shown that for a suitable set of experimental parameters the flow around the obstacle exhibits strong signatures of superfluidity [21], evidenced by frictionless flow and absence of drag force, while for other experimental parameters, the drag force is restored [22], with a non-trivial magnitude and directions [23].

In this work, we consider the case of a free moving finite-mass obstacle subject to the drag force exerted by a driven-dissipative quantum fluid of polaritons. This problem can be understood as the analogue of determining the dynamics of a particle subjected to radiation pressure, when radiation pressure is replaced by the polaritonic quantum fluid drag force. This is also a different class of problem than the fixed obstacle case mentioned above: indeed, a fixed obstacle has an infinite mass and cannot be excited by the fluid, and thus has no dynamics. From a theoretical point of view, the situation that we consider is that of a single impurity dressed by the excitations of its many-body environment, known as the polaron problem. This problem is of high importance in several contexts. In solid-state physics, a polaron state describes electrons dressed by lattice phonons [24–29]. The Fermi polaron, describing a mobile impurity in a degenerate Fermi gas has also attracted renewed attention in ultracold atomic gases [30–43] and has recently been observed in monolayer semiconductors [44, 45] when exciton-polaritons propagate in a fluid of free electrons [46, 47]. The Bose polaron problem, i.e. the case of an impurity in a bosonic quantum fluid has also attracted significant attention [48-58] and was experimentally demonstrated in ultracold atoms [59-64]. For Bose polaron-polaritons at equilibrium, Feshbach-mediated interactions [65] and formation of photon bound states [66] were predicted.

Here, we extend the description of Bose polarons to the non-equilibrium case of a

SciPost Physics Submission

Figure 1: Schematic of the setup considered in the present work. Left panel: excitons (x) and impurities (i) are placed in a photonic cavity (c), pumped by laser light and subjected to losses. Central panel as a result of the strong light-matter coupling, a polariton fluid is created. The impurity is dressed by the fluid excitations, giving rise to a Bose polaron (BP). Right panel: ilustration on how this set up could be experimentally realized in semiconductor microcavities. To achieve the quasi-one-dimensional geometry considered in the present work, a specific etched structure can be realized. The figure shows also how to set into motion the polariton fluid by suitably choosing the angle of incidence of the laser beam.

bosonic driven-dissipative quantum fluid, with specific focus on exciton-polaritons. Focusing on the experimentally relevant condition of weak coupling between the impurity and the fluid, we develop a Bogoliubov-Fröhlich approach in the presence of an external bath and provide solutions, under Markovian approximation, for the effective mass of the polaron and the drag force exerted on it. We consider both the cases of the fluid at rest and in motion. We then examine the impurity motion induced by the drag of the fluid and identify signatures of superfluidity in the polaron dynamics.

The paper is organized as follows. We begin with the description of the model for our system in Sec. 2. We then derive the equations for the quantum dynamics of the impurity in Sec. 3, allowing us to obtain expressions for the effective mass, drag force and trajectories. The next section 4 is devoted to present our main results, in particular on the drag force, which can be either positive or negative depending on the parameter regimes. We also derive the semiclassical trajectories of the impurity, and discuss the effect of drive and dissipation on the impurity dynamics. We show in particular how it can be used as microscopic probe of the superfluid properties of the polariton fluid. We finally present our main conclusions and outlook in Sec. 5.

2 Physical system and model Hamiltonian

We consider a polariton fluid coherently driven by a resonant pump and interacting with dilute impurities. A schematic of the system considered in the present work is shown in Figure 1. We describe the polariton losses throughout the mirrors by its coupling to the continuum of photons outside the cavity, which thus acts as a bath. The total Hamiltonian of the system reads

$$\hat{\mathcal{H}} = \hat{\mathcal{H}}_{\rm P} + \hat{\mathcal{H}}_{\rm I} + \hat{\mathcal{H}}_{\rm B}.$$
(1)

Here $\hat{\mathcal{H}}_{P}$ describes the lower-polariton (P) fluid coherently driven by a continuous wave laser pump of frequency ω_p and wavevector \mathbf{k}_p [9] and is given as

$$\hat{\mathcal{H}}_{P} = \sum_{\mathbf{k}} \left(\frac{\hbar^{2} \mathbf{k}^{2}}{2m} - \hbar \omega_{p} \right) \hat{a}_{\mathbf{k}}^{\dagger} \hat{a}_{\mathbf{k}} + \frac{g}{2A} \sum_{\mathbf{k}, \mathbf{k}', \mathbf{q}} \hat{a}_{\mathbf{k}+\mathbf{q}}^{\dagger} \hat{a}_{\mathbf{k}'-\mathbf{q}}^{\dagger} \hat{a}_{\mathbf{k}'} \hat{a}_{\mathbf{k}} + \hat{a}_{\mathbf{k}_{p}} F_{0}^{*} + \hat{a}_{\mathbf{k}_{p}}^{\dagger} F_{0}^{*}, \qquad (2)$$

where g is the polariton-polariton interaction constant, A is the pumped area in the plane of the microcavity and F_0 is the plane-wave incident laser field with wavevector \mathbf{k}_p .

 $\hat{\mathcal{H}}_{I}$ describes a single impurity, weakly interacting with the polariton fluid and is given as

$$\hat{\mathcal{H}}_{I} = \frac{\hat{p}^{2}}{2M} + \frac{g_{\mathrm{IB}}}{A} \sum_{\mathbf{k},\mathbf{k}'} e^{i(\mathbf{k}-\mathbf{k}')\cdot\hat{\mathbf{x}}} \hat{a}^{\dagger}_{\mathbf{k}'} \hat{a}_{\mathbf{k}}, \qquad (3)$$

where M is the mass of the impurity and the second term describes the impurity-polariton interaction, characterized by coupling constant g_{IB} .

Finally, $\mathcal{H}_{\rm B}$ describes the external radiation bath as harmonic excitations, linearly interacting - in the spirit of Caldeira-Legget model [67–69] - with the polariton fluid:

$$\hat{\mathcal{H}}_{\rm B} = \int dq \,\sum_{\mathbf{k}} \,\hbar\omega_{q,\mathbf{k}} \,\hat{\alpha}_{q,\mathbf{k}}^{\dagger} \alpha_{q,\mathbf{k}} + \int dq \sum_{\mathbf{k}} \left[\kappa_{q,\mathbf{k}}^{*} \,\hat{\alpha}_{q,\mathbf{k}}^{\dagger} \hat{a}_{\mathbf{k}} + \kappa_{q,\mathbf{k}} \,\hat{a}_{\mathbf{k}}^{\dagger} \hat{\alpha}_{q,\mathbf{k}} \right],\tag{4}$$

where $\omega_{q,\mathbf{k}}$ is frequency of the bath mode with in-plane wavevector \mathbf{k} and a continuous wavevector q in the orthogonal direction; $\kappa_{q,\mathbf{k}}$ quantifies the coupling of the polariton modes with the external bath modes. We neglect the coupling of the impurity with the bath for simplicity.

In the next two subsections, we simplify this Hamiltonian first by assuming a weak excitation density on top of the condensate at all times, and thus taking the Bogoliubov approximation, and then by moving to the impurity reference frame using the Lee, Low and Pines (LLP) transformation.

2.1 Bogoliubov approximation

Let us first move to the reference frame in which the polariton fluid flowing with the pump induced momentum $\hbar \mathbf{k}_p$ is at rest; hereof we shift every instance of momentum in our system Hamiltonian (1) by an amount \mathbf{k}_p .

Now we'll consider the three subsystems separately, starting with the polariton Hamiltonian in equation (2), which after the change of frame is written as

$$\hat{\mathcal{H}}_{P} = \sum_{\mathbf{k}} \left(\frac{\hbar^{2} (\mathbf{k}_{p} + \mathbf{k})^{2}}{2m} - \hbar \omega_{p} \right) \hat{a}_{\mathbf{k}_{p} + \mathbf{k}}^{\dagger} \hat{a}_{\mathbf{k}_{p} + \mathbf{k}}$$
$$+ \frac{g}{2A} \sum_{\mathbf{k}, \mathbf{k}', \mathbf{q}} \hat{a}_{\mathbf{k}_{p} + \mathbf{k} + \mathbf{q}}^{\dagger} \hat{a}_{\mathbf{k}_{p} + \mathbf{k}' - \mathbf{q}}^{\dagger} \hat{a}_{\mathbf{k}_{p} + \mathbf{k}'} \hat{a}_{\mathbf{k}_{p} + \mathbf{k}}$$
$$+ \hat{a}_{\mathbf{k}_{p}} F_{0}^{*} + \hat{a}_{\mathbf{k}_{p}}^{\dagger} F_{0}.$$
(5)

We use the Bogoliubov approximation - which assumes a macroscopic occupation of \mathbf{k}_p mode $\hat{a}_{\mathbf{k}_p}(\hat{a}_{\mathbf{k}_p}^{\dagger}) \approx \sqrt{N_0}$ - in (5) to approximate it as a quadratic Hamiltonian in the creation and annihilation operators. It is then diagonalized with the help of Bogoliubov transformation (see Appendix A for details)

$$\hat{a}_{\mathbf{k}_p+\mathbf{k}} = u_{\mathbf{k}}\,\hat{b}_{\mathbf{k}_p+\mathbf{k}} - v_{-\mathbf{k}}^*\,\hat{b}_{\mathbf{k}_p-\mathbf{k}}^\dagger \tag{6a}$$

$$\hat{a}_{\mathbf{k}_{p}-\mathbf{k}}^{\dagger} = -v_{\mathbf{k}}\,\hat{b}_{\mathbf{k}_{p}+\mathbf{k}} + u_{-\mathbf{k}}^{*}\,\hat{b}_{\mathbf{k}_{p}-\mathbf{k}}^{\dagger}.$$
(6b)

The polariton Hamiltonian in the Bogoliubov approximation then reads

$$\hat{\mathcal{H}}_{\rm P} = E_{ss} + \sum_{\mathbf{k}\neq 0} E_{\rm b} \, \hat{b}^{\dagger}_{\mathbf{k}_p + \mathbf{k}} \hat{b}_{\mathbf{k}_p + \mathbf{k}},\tag{7}$$

where E_{ss} is the energy of the macroscopically occupied steady state at \mathbf{k}_p ; it provides a constant energy shift and since it doesn't contribute to the dynamics of the problem we can safely neglect this term moving forward. E_b is the Bogoliubov spectrum of polaritons and is given as

$$E_{\rm b} = \frac{\hbar^2 \mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{k}_p}{m} + \hbar \omega_{\mathbf{k}} \tag{8}$$

where $\hbar\omega_{\mathbf{k}} = \left[\epsilon_{\mathbf{k}}\left(\epsilon_{\mathbf{k}}+2gn\right)\right]^{\frac{1}{2}}, \ \epsilon_{\mathbf{k}} = \frac{\hbar^{2}\mathbf{k}^{2}}{2m} - \Delta \text{ and } \Delta = \hbar\omega_{p} - \frac{\hbar^{2}\mathbf{k}_{p}^{2}}{2m} - gn$, with gn the blueshift due to polariton-polariton interactions. The parameters of the Bogoliubov transformation are given by

$$u_{\mathbf{k}}, v_{\mathbf{k}} = \left[\frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{\epsilon_{\mathbf{k}} + gn}{\hbar\omega_k} \pm 1\right)\right]^{\frac{1}{2}}.$$
(9)

Noting that $u_{\mathbf{k}}(v_{\mathbf{k}}) = u_{-\mathbf{k}}(v_{-\mathbf{k}}) = u_{\mathbf{k}}^*(v_{\mathbf{k}}^*)$, henceforth we'll use $u_{\mathbf{k}}(v_{\mathbf{k}})$ for all the the instances of $u_{-\mathbf{k}}(v_{-\mathbf{k}})$ and $u_{\mathbf{k}}^*(v_{\mathbf{k}}^*)$ in subsequent derivations. For the particular case of $\Delta > 0$ we have $u_{\mathbf{k}}(v_{\mathbf{k}}) \neq u_{\mathbf{k}}^*(v_{\mathbf{k}}^*)$; this calls for a special diagonalization treatment which is detailed in Appendix A.

The nature of the excitation spectrum at low momentum is controlled by the detuning Δ : depending on its value, the excitation spectrum can be gapless, gapped, or exhibit a non-dispersive region at small wavevector (see panel b) in Fig.2).

Using the Bogoliubov approximation in the impurity Hamiltonian (3) and neglecting the term describing the interaction between two Bogoliubov excitations of the condensate which are of order $1/\sqrt{N_0}$ smaller than the interaction of an excitation with the impurity, we obtain

$$\hat{\mathcal{H}}_{I} = \frac{\hat{p}^{2}}{2M} + g_{\mathrm{IB}}n + \sum_{\mathbf{k}\neq0} e^{i\mathbf{k}\hat{\mathbf{x}}} \left(V_{\mathbf{k}} \hat{b}_{\mathbf{k}_{p}+\mathbf{k}} + V_{\mathbf{k}} \hat{b}_{\mathbf{k}_{p}-\mathbf{k}}^{\dagger} \right), \tag{10}$$

where $V_{\mathbf{k}}$ is the scattering amplitude of Bogoliubov excitation with the impurity, given as

$$V_{\mathbf{k}} = g_{\rm IB} \frac{\sqrt{N_0}}{A} \left(u_{\mathbf{k}} - v_{\mathbf{k}} \right). \tag{11}$$

Notice that $V_{\mathbf{k}}$ is associated to the polariton fluid density fluctuations through the term $(u_{\mathbf{k}} - v_{\mathbf{k}})$. In the case of a gapless phononic dispersion, this term is suppressed at low momenta as phase fluctuations dominate the Bogoliubov excitation spectrum. Our analysis hence shows that the impurity dynamics can probe the superfluid properties of the quantum fluid of light.

We finally apply the Bogoliubov transformation to the bath Hamiltonian (4), which results in

$$\hat{\mathcal{H}}_{\mathrm{B}} = \int dq \sum_{\mathbf{k}} \hbar \omega_{q,\mathbf{k}} \, \hat{\alpha}_{q,\mathbf{k}}^{\dagger} \alpha_{q,\mathbf{k}} + \int dq \sum_{\mathbf{k}} \left[\kappa_{q,\mathbf{k}}^{*} \, \hat{\alpha}_{q,\mathbf{k}}^{\dagger} \left(u_{\mathbf{k}} \, \hat{b}_{\mathbf{k}_{p}+\mathbf{k}} - v_{\mathbf{k}} \, \hat{b}_{\mathbf{k}_{p}-\mathbf{k}}^{\dagger} \right) \right.$$

$$\left. + \kappa_{q,\mathbf{k}} \, \hat{\alpha}_{q,\mathbf{k}} \left(u_{\mathbf{k}} \, \hat{b}_{\mathbf{k}_{p}+\mathbf{k}}^{\dagger} - v_{\mathbf{k}} \, \hat{b}_{\mathbf{k}_{p}-\mathbf{k}} \right) \right].$$

$$(12)$$

The sum of equations (7), (10) and (12) provides an approximate description of our system, that takes the form of a Bogoliubov-Fröhlich Hamiltonian with a dissipative bath term.

2.2 Lee Low Pines transformation

In order to further simplify our model we use the Lee Low Pines (LLP) transformation to remove the impurity degree of freedom in the impurity-polariton interaction term. This is achieved by applying the operator

$$T_{\rm LLP} = \exp\left[-i\left(\sum_{\mathbf{k}\neq 0} \hbar \mathbf{k} \,\hat{b}^{\dagger}_{\mathbf{k}_{p}+\mathbf{k}} \hat{b}_{\mathbf{k}_{p}+\mathbf{k}}\right) \cdot \hat{\mathbf{x}}\right]$$
(13)

on the full system Hamiltonian, to move to the impurity reference frame. The resulting total Hamiltonian reads

$$\hat{\mathcal{H}}_{\text{LLP}} = \sum_{\mathbf{k}\neq0} E_{\text{b}} \hat{b}^{\dagger}_{\mathbf{k}_{p}+\mathbf{k}} \hat{b}_{\mathbf{k}_{p}+\mathbf{k}} + \frac{1}{2M} \left(\hat{\mathbf{p}} - \sum_{\mathbf{k}\neq0} \hbar \mathbf{k} \hat{b}^{\dagger}_{\mathbf{k}_{p}+\mathbf{k}} \hat{b}_{\mathbf{k}_{p}+\mathbf{k}} \right)^{2} \\ + \sum_{\mathbf{k}\neq0} \left(V_{\mathbf{k}} \hat{b}_{\mathbf{k}_{p}+\mathbf{k}} + V_{\mathbf{k}} \hat{b}^{\dagger}_{\mathbf{k}_{p}-\mathbf{k}} \right) + \int dq \sum_{\mathbf{k}} \hbar \omega_{q,\mathbf{k}} \hat{\alpha}^{\dagger}_{q,\mathbf{k}} \alpha_{q,\mathbf{k}} \\ + \int dq \sum_{\mathbf{k}} \left[\kappa^{*}_{q,\mathbf{k}} \hat{\alpha}^{\dagger}_{q,\mathbf{k}} \left(u_{\mathbf{k}} \hat{b}_{\mathbf{k}_{p}+\mathbf{k}} - v_{\mathbf{k}} \hat{b}^{\dagger}_{\mathbf{k}_{p}-\mathbf{k}} \right) e^{-i\mathbf{k}\hat{\mathbf{x}}} \\ + \kappa_{q,\mathbf{k}} \hat{\alpha}_{q,\mathbf{k}} \left(u_{\mathbf{k}} \hat{b}^{\dagger}_{\mathbf{k}_{p}+\mathbf{k}} - v_{\mathbf{k}} \hat{b}_{\mathbf{k}_{p}-\mathbf{k}} \right) e^{i\mathbf{k}\hat{\mathbf{x}}} \right].$$
(14)

3 Quantum dynamical equations and observables

In order to obtain the impurity dynamics, we derive the Heisenberg equation of motion for $\hat{\mathbf{x}}$, $\hat{\mathbf{p}}$, $\hat{b}_{\mathbf{k}_p+\mathbf{k}}$ and $\hat{\alpha}_{q,\mathbf{k}}$ operators. In order to simplify the notation, we use $\Pi = \sum_{\mathbf{k}\neq 0} \hbar \mathbf{k} \hat{b}^{\dagger}_{\mathbf{k}_p+\mathbf{k}} \hat{b}_{\mathbf{k}_p+\mathbf{k}}$ to denote the momentum of the Bogoliubov excitations. The resulting equations of motion read:

$$\frac{d\hat{\mathbf{x}}}{dt} = \frac{(\hat{\mathbf{p}} - \Pi)}{M},\tag{15}$$

$$\frac{d\hat{\mathbf{p}}}{dt} = \sum_{\mathbf{k}} i\mathbf{k}e^{-i\mathbf{k}\hat{\mathbf{x}}} \int dq \left[\kappa_{q,\mathbf{k}}^{*} \hat{\alpha}_{q,\mathbf{k}}^{\dagger} \left(u_{\mathbf{k}} \hat{b}_{\mathbf{k}_{p}+\mathbf{k}} - v_{\mathbf{k}} \hat{b}_{\mathbf{k}_{p}-\mathbf{k}}^{\dagger} \right) + \kappa_{q,-\mathbf{k}} \hat{\alpha}_{q,-\mathbf{k}} \left(u_{-\mathbf{k}} \hat{b}_{\mathbf{k}_{p}-\mathbf{k}}^{\dagger} - v_{\mathbf{k}} \hat{b}_{\mathbf{k}_{p}+\mathbf{k}} \right) \right],$$
(16)

$$i\hbar \frac{d}{dt} \hat{b}_{\mathbf{k}_{p}+\mathbf{k}} = \left(E_{\mathrm{b}} + \frac{\hbar^{2}\mathbf{k}^{2}}{2M} + \frac{\hbar\mathbf{k}\cdot\Pi}{M} - \hbar\mathbf{k}.\hat{\mathbf{p}} \right) \hat{b}_{\mathbf{k}_{p}+\mathbf{k}} + V_{\mathbf{k}} + \int dq \left(\kappa_{q,\mathbf{k}} \,\hat{\alpha}_{q,\mathbf{k}} \, u_{\mathbf{k}} - \kappa_{q,\mathbf{k}}^{*} \,\hat{\alpha}_{q,\mathbf{k}}^{\dagger} \, v_{\mathbf{k}} \right) e^{i\mathbf{k}\hat{\mathbf{x}}} \,, \tag{17}$$

$$i\hbar \frac{d}{dt}\hat{\alpha}_{q,\mathbf{k}} = \hbar\omega_{q,\mathbf{k}}\,\alpha_{q,\mathbf{k}} + \kappa_{q,\mathbf{k}}^* \left(u_{\mathbf{k}}\,\hat{b}_{\mathbf{k}_p+\mathbf{k}} - v_{\mathbf{k}}\,\hat{b}_{\mathbf{k}_p-\mathbf{k}}^\dagger \right) e^{-i\mathbf{k}\hat{\mathbf{x}}}.$$
(18)

Notice that the impurity momentum is not conserved due to the presence of the bath. Now we proceed to obtain a solution for the four coupled equation of motions. We derive a self-consistent equation for Π in the next subsection, from which we can calculate the trajectory of polarons.

3.1 Dynamics of the fluid excitations

We commence by tracing out the bath degrees of freedom by substituting the solution of (18) for $\hat{\alpha}_{q,\mathbf{k}}$ in (17). The general solution of (18) is given as

$$\hat{\alpha}_{q,\mathbf{k}} = e^{-i\omega_{q,\mathbf{k}}(t-t_0)} \alpha_{q,\mathbf{k}}(t_0) - i\kappa_{q,\mathbf{k}}^* \int_{t_0}^t dt' \, e^{-i\omega_{q,\mathbf{k}}(t-t')} \Big(u_{\mathbf{k}} \, \hat{b}_{\mathbf{k}_p+\mathbf{k}}(t') - v_{\mathbf{k}} \, \hat{b}_{\mathbf{k}_p-\mathbf{k}}^\dagger(t') \Big) e^{-i\mathbf{k}\hat{\mathbf{x}}(t')}.$$
(19)

Using (19) in (17) we obtain

$$i\hbar \frac{d}{dt}\hat{b}_{\mathbf{k}_{p}+\mathbf{k}} = \left(E_{\mathrm{b}} + \frac{\hbar^{2}\mathbf{k}^{2}}{2M} + \frac{\hbar\mathbf{k}\cdot\Pi}{M} - \hbar\mathbf{k}.\hat{\mathbf{p}}\right)\hat{b}_{\mathbf{k}_{p}+\mathbf{k}} + V_{\mathbf{k}} - i\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dt'\Gamma_{\mathbf{k}}^{(1)}(t-t')\hat{b}_{\mathbf{k}_{p}+\mathbf{k}}(t') - i\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dt'\Gamma_{\mathbf{k}}^{(2)}(t-t')\hat{b}_{\mathbf{k}_{p}-\mathbf{k}}^{\dagger}(t') + F_{\mathbf{k}}^{\mathrm{sto}}$$
(20)

where

$$\Gamma_{\mathbf{k}}^{(1)}(t-t') = \Theta(t-t') \int dq \Big(|\kappa_{q,\mathbf{k}}|^2 u_{\mathbf{k}}^2 e^{-i\omega_{q,\mathbf{k}}(t-t')} - |\kappa_{q,-\mathbf{k}}|^2 v_{\mathbf{k}}^2 e^{i\omega_{q,-\mathbf{k}}(t-t')} \Big) e^{-i\mathbf{k} \left(\hat{\mathbf{x}}(t') - \hat{\mathbf{x}}(t) \right)}$$
(21a)

$$\Gamma_{\mathbf{k}}^{(2)}(t-t') = \Theta(t-t') \int dq \, u_{\mathbf{k}} v_{\mathbf{k}} \Big(|\kappa_{q,\mathbf{k}}|^2 e^{-i\omega_{q,\mathbf{k}}(t-t')} - |\kappa_{q,-\mathbf{k}}|^2 e^{i\omega_{q,-\mathbf{k}}(t-t')} \Big) e^{-i\mathbf{k}\left(\hat{\mathbf{x}}(t')-\hat{\mathbf{x}}(t)\right)} \quad \text{and}$$
(21b)

$$F_{\mathbf{k}}^{\text{sto}} = \int dq \left(\kappa_{q,\mathbf{k}} u_{\mathbf{k}} e^{-i\omega_{q,\mathbf{k}}t} \, \hat{\alpha}_{q,\mathbf{k}} - \kappa_{q,-\mathbf{k}}^* v_{\mathbf{k}} e^{i\omega_{q,-\mathbf{k}}t} \, \hat{\alpha}_{q,\mathbf{k}}^\dagger \right). \tag{21c}$$

Here, $\Gamma_{\mathbf{k}}^{(1)}$ and $\Gamma_{\mathbf{k}}^{(2)}$ are the memory kernels of the integro-differential equation (20), and $F_{\mathbf{k}}^{\text{sto}}$ describes stochastic fluctuations due to the coupling with the bath. This will not enter in the calculation of the average trajectories and will hence be neglected from now on. We next employ the Markovian approximation, which assumes no memory of past times, in (20) and under this approximation the integral kernels $\Gamma_{\mathbf{k}}^{(1)} \approx \Gamma_{\mathbf{k}} \delta(t'-t)$, where $2\pi/\Gamma_k$ is the polariton radiative lifetime and $\Gamma_{\mathbf{k}}^{(2)} \to 0$. Hence, the equation of motion for $\hat{b}_{\mathbf{k}_n+\mathbf{k}}$ is simplified as

$$i\hbar \frac{d}{dt}\hat{b}_{\mathbf{k}_{p}+\mathbf{k}} = \left(E_{\rm b} + \frac{\hbar^{2}\mathbf{k}^{2}}{2M} - \frac{\hbar\mathbf{k}\cdot(\hat{\mathbf{p}}-\Pi)}{M} - i\Gamma_{\mathbf{k}}\right)\hat{b}_{\mathbf{k}_{p}+\mathbf{k}} + V_{\mathbf{k}}.$$
(22)

The steady-state solution of (22) in the mean-field approximation is a coherent state of the Bogoliubov excitations. Under this assumption we replace the $\hat{b}_{\mathbf{k}_p+\mathbf{k}}$ quantum operator with a classical mean field $\beta_{\mathbf{k}_p+\mathbf{k}} = \langle \hat{b}_{\mathbf{k}_p+\mathbf{k}} \rangle$ in (22) and obtain the stationary solution of the field as

$$\beta_{\mathbf{k}_p + \mathbf{k}} = \frac{-V_{\mathbf{k}}}{\left(E_{\mathrm{b}} + \frac{\hbar^2 \mathbf{k}^2}{2M} - \frac{\hbar \mathbf{k} \cdot (\hat{\mathbf{p}} - \Pi)}{M} - i\Gamma_{\mathbf{k}}\right)}$$
(23)

Similarly the stationary solution for $\bar{\beta}_{\mathbf{k}_p+\mathbf{k}} = \langle \hat{b}^{\dagger}_{\mathbf{k}_p+\mathbf{k}} \rangle$ reads

$$\bar{\beta}_{\mathbf{k}_{p}+\mathbf{k}} = \frac{-V_{\mathbf{k}}}{\left(E_{\mathrm{b}} + \frac{\hbar^{2}\mathbf{k}^{2}}{2M} - \frac{\hbar\mathbf{k}\cdot(\hat{\mathbf{p}}-\Pi)}{M} + i\Gamma_{\mathbf{k}}\right)}.$$
(24)

Notice that $\bar{\beta}_{\mathbf{k}_p+\mathbf{k}} \neq \beta^*_{\mathbf{k}_p+\mathbf{k}}$ if E_b takes imaginary values. A detailed discussion of this regime is provided in Appendix A.

3.2 Effective mass of polarons

We next proceed in determining the observables characterizing the polaron in a drivendissipative fluid of light. In the mean field approximation Π reads

$$\Pi = \sum_{\mathbf{k}\neq 0} \hbar(\mathbf{k} + \mathbf{k}_p) \bar{\beta}_{\mathbf{k}_p + \mathbf{k}} \beta_{\mathbf{k}_p + \mathbf{k}} - \hbar \mathbf{k}_p \sum_{\mathbf{k}\neq 0} \bar{\beta}_{\mathbf{k}_p + \mathbf{k}} \beta_{\mathbf{k}_p + \mathbf{k}}$$
(25)

The first term on the r.h.s. of (25) describes the Bogoliubov excitations mean field momentum, while the second term describes an effective drift of the impurity due to the flow of polariton fluid. We derive a self-consistent equation for Π by substituting Eqs. (23) and (24) in (25), leading to

$$\Pi = \sum_{\mathbf{k}\neq 0} \frac{\hbar \mathbf{k} V_{\mathbf{k}}^2}{\left(E_{\mathrm{b}} + \frac{\hbar^2 \mathbf{k}^2}{2M} - \frac{\hbar \mathbf{k} \cdot (\mathbf{p} - \Pi)}{M}\right)^2 + \Gamma_{\mathbf{k}}^2}.$$
(26)

The effective mass of the polaron is then obtained from the first term in (25): In the case when $p \to 0$ the excitation momentum behaves as $\Pi \approx \eta \mathbf{p}$ and the effective mass is given by

$$\frac{1}{M_{\text{eff}}} = \frac{(1-\eta)}{M} \tag{27}$$

where is η is the fraction of excitation momentum in the direction of p.

3.3 Drag force

The instantaneous drag force experienced by the impurity is obtained using Ehrenfest theorem according to which

$$\mathbf{F}_{\rm drag} = -g_{\rm IB} \langle \int \psi^{\dagger} [\nabla n_{\rm imp}] \psi \rangle \tag{28}$$

$$= -\left\langle \sum_{\mathbf{k}\neq 0} i\mathbf{k} V_{\mathbf{k}} e^{i\mathbf{k}\hat{\mathbf{x}}} \left(\hat{b}_{\mathbf{k}_{p}+\mathbf{k}} + \hat{b}_{\mathbf{k}_{p}-\mathbf{k}}^{\dagger} \right) \right\rangle.$$
(29)

After using the LLP transformation in the above definition, ie moving to the polaron reference frame, we calculate the instantaneous drag force that it experiences, which results in

$$\mathbf{F}_{\text{drag}} = -\sum_{\mathbf{k}\neq 0} i \mathbf{k} V_{\mathbf{k}} \left(\beta_{\mathbf{k}_{p}+\mathbf{k}} + \bar{\beta}_{\mathbf{k}_{p}-\mathbf{k}} \right)$$
(30)

Substituting for $\beta_{\mathbf{k}_p+\mathbf{k}}$ and $\bar{\beta}_{\mathbf{k}_p-\mathbf{k}}$ from Eqs. (23) and (24), respectively, we have

$$\mathbf{F}_{\rm drag} = \sum_{\mathbf{k}\neq 0} 2i\,\mathbf{k}V_{\mathbf{k}}^2\,\left(\frac{\hbar^2\mathbf{k}^2}{2M} + \hbar\omega_{\mathbf{k}}\right) \left(\frac{1}{\left(\frac{\hbar^2\mathbf{k}^2}{2M} + \hbar\omega_{\mathbf{k}}\right)^2 - \left(\frac{\hbar^2\mathbf{k}\cdot\mathbf{k}_p}{m} - \frac{\hbar\mathbf{k}\cdot(\mathbf{p}-\Pi)}{M} - i\Gamma_{\mathbf{k}}\right)^2}\right).$$
(31)

In the limit when $M \to \infty$ we recover the expression derived in [22].

3.4 Polaron trajectory

We begin deriving an equation for the polaron trajectory, by substituting Eq. (19) in (16), that is, by tracing out the bath degrees of freedom. Within the Markovian and semiclassical approximations we get

$$\frac{d\hat{\mathbf{p}}}{dt} = -\sum_{\mathbf{k}\neq0} 2\mathbf{k} \bigg[u_{\mathbf{k}}^{2} \langle \hat{b}_{\mathbf{k}_{p}+\mathbf{k}}(t) \hat{b}_{\mathbf{k}_{p}+\mathbf{k}}^{\dagger}(t) \rangle + v_{\mathbf{k}}^{2} \langle \hat{b}_{\mathbf{k}_{p}-\mathbf{k}}^{\dagger}(t) \hat{b}_{\mathbf{k}_{p}-\mathbf{k}}(t) \rangle
- u_{\mathbf{k}} v_{\mathbf{k}} \langle \hat{b}_{\mathbf{k}_{p}+\mathbf{k}}(t) \hat{b}_{\mathbf{k}_{p}-\mathbf{k}}(t) \rangle - u_{\mathbf{k}} v_{\mathbf{k}} \langle \hat{b}_{\mathbf{k}_{p}+\mathbf{k}}^{\dagger}(t) \hat{b}_{\mathbf{k}_{p}-\mathbf{k}}^{\dagger}(t) \rangle \bigg].$$
(32)

We then use the solution of Eq. (22) for the Bogoliubov operators to finally obtain a set of coupled semiclassical equations providing the trajectory of the polaron :

$$\frac{d\mathbf{x}}{dt} = \frac{(\mathbf{p} - \Pi)}{M} \tag{33}$$

$$\frac{d\mathbf{p}}{dt} = -2\Gamma \sum_{\mathbf{k}\neq 0} \frac{\mathbf{k} V_{\mathbf{k}}}{\left(E_{\rm b} + \frac{\hbar^2 \mathbf{k}^2}{2M} - \frac{\hbar \mathbf{k} \cdot (\mathbf{p} - \Pi)}{M}\right)^2 + \Gamma_{\mathbf{k}}^2} \\ \left\{ 1 - 2\cos\left[\left(E_{\rm b} + \frac{\hbar^2 \mathbf{k}^2}{2M} + \frac{\hbar \mathbf{k} \cdot (\Pi - \mathbf{p})}{M}\right)t\right] + e^{-2\Gamma t} \right\}.$$
(34)

4 Results

4.1 Effective mass of the polaron

We present first the results for the polaron effective mass obtained by solving Eq. (27). In the current and following subsections we present our results in a quasi-one dimensional geometry, as illustrated in Fig.1, but the equations that we derived are also valid in higher dimensions. Also, for all further results we will take the value of interaction constant, $1/[2\pi n\xi(g_{\rm IB}/g)^2]$, with $\xi = \hbar/\sqrt{mgn}$ being the healing length, equal to 0.2. This ensures we stay in the regime of weak impurity-fluid interactions, as assumed in Sec.2.

As shown in Figure 2a), upon increasing the detuning Δ we observe a non-monotonous behaviour of the effective mass. This can be understood as being related to the different nature of the Bogoliubov excitations at varying Δ . The various possible regimes are illustrated in Fig. 2b). When $\Delta \leq 0$ (region I in the figure) the excitation spectrum is gapped and becomes gapless and phononic at $\Delta = 0$. The latter regime is reminiscent of the Bogoliubov spectrum for equilibrium condensates albeit with dissipation. When $\Delta > 0$ the excitations spectrum is diffusive with purely imaginary eigenenergies in some range of wavevectors that depends on the ratio Δ/gn . If $\Delta/gn < 2$ (region II) the imaginary values lie in the region $|\mathbf{k}| < \sqrt{2m\Delta}$ with the maximum of the imaginary part at $\mathbf{k} = 0$, while if $\Delta/gn > 2$ (region III) the diffusive regime is at finite \mathbf{k} wavevectors.

In all the above cases, the polariton condensate is dynamically stable as long as the imaginary part of its excitation spectrum is smaller than zero [9, 70]. This is possible thanks to the presence of the dissipation constant Γ . Hence, it is remarkable that drivendissipative quantum fluids can reach a wealth of dynamical regimes not accessible by their equilibrium counterpart. This has a direct impact on the polaron effective mass: the way the fluid excitations dress the impurity depends on the dynamical regime. We find that the largest effective mass occurs close to the sonic case, where a large density of excitations can be generated by the impurity for a vanishing energetic costs. Another peculiar regime



Figure 2: a) Ratio of effective mass to bare mass, $M_{\rm eff}/M$ of the impurity as a function of the detuning, Δ - in the units of blueshift gn. The shaded regions from left to right depicts the regions (I), (II) and (III) corresponding to different types of excitation spectrum of the fluid shown in Panel b) and the dashed lines indicate the point where effective mass coincides with bare mass of the impurity. Here the impurity-polariton mass ratio is M/m = 10. b) Imaginary (top) and real (bottom) parts of the Bogoliubov spectrum of polaritons for varying values of detuning Δ leading to (I) gapless or gapped spectrum, (II) diffusive spectrum around $\mathbf{k} = 0$ and (III) diffusive spectrum around finite \mathbf{k} points. In all the figures we have used $\Gamma = 1.5 gn$ and $\mathbf{k}_p = 0$.



Figure 3: **Drag Force**, F_{drag} , experienced by polaron at rest as a function of the detuning Δ - in units of interation energy, gn - and the polariton pump wavevector \mathbf{k}_p - in units of inverse healing length $\xi = \hbar/\sqrt{mgn}$ - which quantifies the fluid flow velocity, $v_{\text{fl}} = \hbar \mathbf{k}_p/m$. The red line depicts the Landau critical velocity, v_c as function of detuning Δ , with $v_c = \min_{\mathbf{k}} E_b(\mathbf{k})/|\mathbf{k}|$. Here we have taken M/m = 10 for the impurity-polariton mass ratio and $\Gamma = 1.5 \, gn$.

found in this driven-dissipative quantum fluids is the one where the effective mass is smaller than the bare one: this occurs when the spectrum is diffusive at finite wavevector. In this case the impurity feels a negative drag (see next subsection) and behaves as an effectively lighter particle.

4.2 Drag force

We next calculate the drag force (31) experienced by polaron. The drag force depends on the fluid momentum $\hbar \mathbf{k}_p$, and on the dynamical regime for the fluid excitations, controlled by the detuning Δ . The results are summarized in Fig. 3.

For positive values of Δ we observe a region of negative drag force. This extends the results predicted by [22] to the case of an impurity with finite mass. This regime corresponds to the case when the effective mass is smaller than bare one. For negative values of Δ the drag force is non-zero and positive, showing an important increase starting from the case where the fluid velocity exceeds the Landau critical velocity, estimated as $v_c = \min_{\mathbf{k}} E_b(\mathbf{k})/|\mathbf{k}|$ and marked by the red line in Fig. 3. Our analysis hence shows that the impurity acts as a 'test particle' in the fluid to probe its superfluid properties, which strongly depend on the dynamical regime of the fluid.

4.3 Polaron dynamics

We finally follow the semiclassical dynamics of the polaron moving with a finite initial momentum in a fluid at rest. The results are summarized in Fig. 4.

The key quantity to follow in order to determine the excitation dynamics is the excitation momentum Π . When Π reaches zero, it means that the impurity has reached its terminal velocity: it is not dressed by excitations anymore, and its effective mass equals



Figure 4: a) Excitation momentum Π as a function of polaron momentum p, both in units of $p_0 = \sqrt{mgn}$ for various values of detuning $\Delta = -1.5, 0, 1.5, 2.5, 3.5$ - in units of gn - going from darker to lighter shaded curves respectively, for a fluid at rest. The arrows depict the momentum flow towards the long time limit state, where the polaron attains a saturation or terminal momentum. The saturation momentum values are depicted by the black dots on p axis (roots of excitation momentum $\Pi(p)$) and are dependent on the initial value of the impurity momentum p. In the inset we show the roots of the excitation momentum, as a function of Δ in units of gn. The gray-shaded region in the inset marks the region of negative drag. b) and c) Heatmaps of impurity momentum, p/p_0 as a function of time, t, in units of $t_0 = \hbar/gn$, and detuning Δ , in units of gn, for different values of the initial momentum: c) $p = 6p_0$, d) $p = 12p_0$. In all panels we have taken M/m = 10, $\Gamma = 1.5 gn$ and the fluid is at rest.



Figure 5: Polaron saturation momentum: absolute value of the polaron saturation momentum p in units of $p_0 = \sqrt{mgn}$ as a function of detuning, Δ , and dissipation, Γ - both in units of blueshift gn, for a fluid at rest. The gray area represents the region of dynamical instability of the Bogoliubov theory.

the bare mass. Different kind of trajectories are shown in Fig. 4 a). The arrows indicate the impurity momentum evolution in time, till it reaches a terminal value (black dots in the figure). For negative Δ , we see that the terminal momentum is always zero, regardless of the initial momentum. For $\Delta > 0$, the situation is more exotic: above a certain positive Δ , the terminal momentum p = 0 becomes unstable with respect to fluctuations of Π , and two nonzero terminal momenta become possible (cf. the bifurcation in the inset of Fig. 4 a)). These nonzero terminal momenta result from the negative drag regime in which the impurity moves opposite to the flow of the fluid.

In Figure 4b) and Figure 4c) we show the polaron momentum as a function of time and of the detuning Δ for fixed initial momentum, smaller or larger than the terminal value. Two regimes clearly emerge from this analysis: for negative detuning the polaron decelerates till a final rest position, while for positive detuning, in the regime of negative drag, the impurity of given initial momentum accelerates till a terminal momentum is reached.

Finally, we analyse the influence of losses on the polaron dynamics for positive Δ . The results are summarized in Fig. 5, where we show the terminal velocity reached by polarons as a function of the detuning Δ and of the dissipation constant Γ . We see that the region of non-zero terminal velocity caused by the negative drag regime disappear upon decreasing Γ . For increasing Γ we see that the lower boundary Δ_{th} of this region increases to compensate for the increased losses.

5 Conclusions and outlook

We have studied the motion of an impurity in a polariton fluid under drive and dissipation, assuming a weak coupling between the impurity and the fluid. The presence of Bogoliubov excitations lying on top of the coherent steady state of the polariton fluid dress the impurity particle giving rise to a Bose polaron in the Fröhlich regime. We have determined the polaron effective mass, the drag force acting on the impurity, as well as polaron trajectories at semiclassical level.

We have found different dynamical regimes, originating from the unique features of the excitation spectrum of driven-dissipative polariton fluids. We have shown that it is possible to tune polaron effective mass to values both smaller and larger than the bare one by adjusting the detuning Δ . In the $\Delta > 0$ regime of diffusive excitations spectrum the impurity is subjected to negative drag force: as a result, the impurity rest position is unstable and it starts accelerating against the flow until it reaches a non-zero terminal velocity. This work shows that the impurity dynamics can be used as a test particle to probe the different regimes of nonequilibrium quantum flow, including superfluidity, in quantum fluids of light.

As indicated by our analysis of the coupling with the electromagnetic vacuum bath outside the cavity, corrections beyond the Markov approximation (see [71] for an approximate treatment) could lead to experimentally relevant non-trivial corrections of the dynamics, that would be interesting to examine. Another open direction is to go beyond the semiclassical description of the impurity trajectories, and beyond the weak impurity-fluid interaction regime.

Acknowledgements

Funding information AV acknowledges the European Union Horizon 2020 research and innovation program under the Marie Skłodowska-Curie Grant Agreement No. 754303.



Figure 6: Finite flow velocity: excitation momentum, Π in units of $p_0 = \sqrt{mgn}$ as a function of the pump wavector k_p , in units of inverse healing length ξ for an impurity at rest. Here the values of detuning $\Delta = 2.5, 1.5 and - 1$ decrease with the color from a darker to a lighter shade and we have taken $\tilde{M} = 10$ and $\Gamma = 1.5$

A Generalized Bogoliubov transformation

In the case of positive detuning, the quadratic form of lower polariton Hamiltonian in (5) after undergoing Bogoliubov approximation is non-positive definite for a finite range of wavevector **k** values. This precludes its diagonalization using the standard Bogoliubov

operators $\hat{b}_{\mathbf{k}}$ and $\hat{b}_{\mathbf{k}}^{\dagger}$ (6a, 6b) in this range of **k** values [72]. This happens because $\hat{b}_{\mathbf{k}}$ and $\hat{b}_{\mathbf{k}}^{\dagger}$ fail to satisfy the bosonic commutation relations upheld by the condition $|u_{\mathbf{k}}|^2 - |v_{\mathbf{k}}|^2 = 1$ which in this instance is zero. However, we may still diagonalize the Hamiltonian using non-standard Bogoliubov operators given by

$$\hat{b}_{\mathbf{k}_p+\mathbf{k}} = u_{\mathbf{k}}\,\hat{a}_{\mathbf{k}_p+\mathbf{k}} + v_{-\mathbf{k}}\,\hat{a}_{\mathbf{k}_p-\mathbf{k}}^{\dagger} \tag{35}$$

$$\ddot{b}_{\mathbf{k}_p-\mathbf{k}} = v_{\mathbf{k}} \, \hat{a}_{\mathbf{k}_p+\mathbf{k}} + u_{-\mathbf{k}} \, \hat{a}_{\mathbf{k}_p-\mathbf{k}}^{\dagger}. \tag{36}$$

These operators satisfy the bosonic commutation relation with the condition $u_{\mathbf{k}}^2 - v_{\mathbf{k}}^2 = 1$ but in this case $\hat{b}_{\mathbf{k}_p+\mathbf{k}} \neq \hat{b}_{\mathbf{k}_p+\mathbf{k}}^{\dagger}$ which results, in general, complex Bogoliubov energy and onset of dynamical instability. However, we stay in the regime where the imaginary part of the Bogoliubov energy is less than the dissipation rate, $\Gamma_{\mathbf{k}}$ which stabilizes the system against the instability caused due to complex Bogoliubov energies. Proceeding forward with these non-standard Bogoliubov operators all the subsequent results remain the same as derived in the main paper, albeit replacing $\hat{b}_{\mathbf{k}_p+\mathbf{k}}^{\dagger}$ with $\hat{b}_{\mathbf{k}_p+\mathbf{k}}$. The use of non-standard Bogoliubov operators when detuning Δ is positive also results

The use of non-standard Bogoliubov operators when detuning Δ is positive also results in a small imaginary contribution to the excitation momentum Π when we solve the selfconsistency relation in (26). We have taken it into account by adding an imaginary contribution to the energy spectrum as $\text{Im}\{E_{\rm b} - i\Gamma\} + \text{Im}\{\Pi\}$.



Figure 7: Varying impurity-polariton mass ratio. Excitation momentum, Π as a function of impurity momentum p, both in units of $p_0 = \sqrt{mgn}$ in the case of diffusive Bogoliubov spectrum ($\Delta = 2.5 gn$) for varying impurity-polariton mass ratios \tilde{M} : 5, 10 and 20 from a darker to a lighter shade respectively. The case for $\tilde{M} = \infty$ is shown in black for which the excitation momentum is zero. Here $\Gamma = 1.5 gn$ and the fluid is at rest.

B Further Results

B.1 Case of moving fluid

The case of a moving fluid with a finite flow velocity $|\mathbf{v}| = k_p/m$ is a straightforward extension of the case discussed in the main text. We focus here on the regime of diffusive spectrum. As shown in Fig. 6, the terminal drift velocity attained by the impurity depends

on the detuning Δ . For sufficiently large Δ the regime of negative drag emerges, indicated by a terminal velocity in the opposite direction of fluid flow.

B.2 Varying mass ratios

We show in Fig. 7 the results for excitation momentum Π in the case of diffusive spectrum for varying values of the impurity-polariton mass ratios, \tilde{M} . We observe that for increasing mass ratio the terminal velocity attained by the impurity also increases.

References

- P. Horak, G. Hechenblaikner, K. M. Gheri, H. Stecher and H. Ritsch, *Cavity-Induced Atom Cooling in the Strong Coupling Regime*, Phys. Rev. Lett. **79**(25), 4974 (1997), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.79.4974.
- [2] C. E. Wieman, D. E. Pritchard and D. J. Wineland, Atom cooling, trapping, and quantum manipulation, Rev. Mod. Phys. 71(2), S253 (1999), doi:10.1103/RevModPhys.71.S253.
- [3] M. Aspelmeyer, T. J. Kippenberg and F. Marquardt, *Cavity optomechanics*, Rev. Mod. Phys. 86(4), 1391 (2014), doi:10.1103/RevModPhys.86.1391.
- [4] H. A. Atwater, A. R. Davoyan, O. Ilic, D. Jariwala, M. C. Sherrott, C. M. Went, W. S. Whitney and J. Wong, *Materials challenges for the starshot lightsail*, Nature Materials 17, 861 (2018), doi:10.1038/s41563-018-0075-8.
- [5] C. Weisbuch, M. Nishioka, A. Ishikawa and Y. Arakawa, Observation of the coupled exciton-photon mode splitting in a semiconductor quantum microcavity, Phys. Rev. Lett. 69(23), 3314 (1992), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.69.3314.
- [6] V. Savona, L. C. Andreani, P. Schwendimann and A. Quattropani, Quantum well excitons in semiconductor microcavities: Unified treatment of weak and strong coupling regimes, Solid State Communications 93(9), 733 (1995), doi:10.1016/0038-1098(94)00865-5.
- B. Deveaud, ed., The Physics of Semiconductor Microcavities, Wiley, doi:10.1002/9783527610150 (2006).
- [8] A. V. Kavokin, J. J. Baumberg, G. Malpuech and F. P. Laussy, *Microcavities*, Oxford University Press, 2nd edn., doi:10.1093/oso/9780198782995.001.0001 (2017).
- [9] I. Carusotto and C. Ciuti, *Quantum fluids of light*, Rev. Mod. Phys. 85(1), 299 (2013), doi:10.1103/RevModPhys.85.299.
- [10] S. Utsunomiya, L. Tian, G. Roumpos, C. W. Lai, N. Kumada, T. Fujisawa, M. Kuwata-Gonokami, A. Löffler, S. Höfling, A. Forchel and Y. Yamamoto, *Observation of Bogoliubov excitations in exciton-polariton condensates*, Nature Physics 4(9), 700 (2008), doi:10.1038/nphys1034.
- [11] V. Kohnle, Y. Léger, M. Wouters, M. Richard, M. T. Portella-Oberli and B. Deveaud-Plédran, From single particle to superfluid excitations in a dissipative polariton gas, Phys. Rev. Lett. 106, 255302 (2011), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.106.255302.

- [12] P. Stepanov, I. Amelio, J.-G. Rousset, J. Bloch, A. Lemaître, A. Amo, A. Minguzzi, I. Carusotto and M. Richard, *Dispersion relation of the collective excitations in a resonantly driven polariton fluid*, Nature Communications **10**(1), 3869 (2019), doi:10.1038/s41467-019-11886-3.
- [13] T. Byrnes, N. Y. Kim and Y. Yamamoto, *Exciton-polariton condensates*, Nature Physics 10, 803 (2014), doi:10.1038/nphys3143.
- [14] C. Schneider, K. Winkler, M. D. Fraser, M. Kamp, Y. Yamamoto, E. A. Ostrovskaya and S. Höfling, *Exciton-polariton trapping and potential landscape engineering*, Reports on Progress in Physics 80(1), 016503 (2016), doi:10.1088/0034-4885/80/1/016503.
- [15] I. Carusotto and C. Ciuti, Probing Microcavity Polariton Superfluidity through Resonant Rayleigh Scattering, Phys. Rev. Lett. 93(16), 166401 (2004), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.93.166401.
- [16] C. Ciuti and I. Carusotto, Quantum fluid effects and parametric instabilities in microcavities, phys. stat. sol. (b) 242(11), 2224 (2005), doi:10.1002/pssb.200560961.
- [17] E. Cancellieri, F. M. Marchetti, M. H. Szymaifmmode \acuten\else ń\fiska and C. Tejedor, Superflow of resonantly driven polaritons against a defect, Phys. Rev. B 82(22), 224512 (2010), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.82.224512.
- [18] I. Amelio, A. Minguzzi, M. Richard and I. Carusotto, Galilean boosts and superfluidity of resonantly driven polariton fluids in the presence of an incoherent reservoir, Phys. Rev. Research 2(2), 023158 (2020), doi:10.1103/PhysRevResearch.2.023158.
- [19] A. Amo, J. Lefrère, S. Pigeon, C. Adrados, C. Ciuti, I. Carusotto, R. Houdré, E. Giacobino and A. Bramati, *Superfluidity of polaritons in semiconductor microcavities*, Nature Physics 5(11), 805 (2009), doi:10.1038/nphys1364.
- [20] A. Amo, D. Sanvitto, F. P. Laussy, D. Ballarini, E. del Valle, M. D. Martin, A. Lemaître, J. Bloch, D. N. Krizhanovskii, M. S. Skolnick, C. Tejedor and L. Viña, *Collective fluid dynamics of a polariton condensate in a semiconductor microcavity*, Nature 457(7227), 291 (2009), doi:10.1038/nature07640.
- [21] A. J. Leggett, Superfluidity, Rev. Mod. Phys. 71(2), S318 (1999), doi:10.1103/RevModPhys.71.S318.
- [22] M. Van Regemortel and M. Wouters, Negative drag in nonequilibrium polariton quantum fluids, Phys. Rev. B 89(8), 085303 (2014), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.89.085303.
- [23] R. T. Juggins, J. Keeling and M. H. Szymańska, Coherently driven microcavitypolaritons and the question of superfluidity, Nature Communications. 9(1), 4062 (2018), doi:10.1038/s41467-018-06436-2.
- [24] L. Landau and S. Pekar, Effective mass of a polaron, Zh. Eksp. Teor. Fiz 18(5), 419 (1948).
- [25] H. Fröhlich, H. Pelzer and S. Zienau, XX. Properties of slow electrons in polar materials, The London, Edinburgh, and Dublin Philosophical Magazine and Journal of Science 41(314), 221 (1950), doi:10.1080/14786445008521794.
- [26] T. D. Lee, F. E. Low and D. Pines, The Motion of Slow Electrons in a Polar Crystal, Phys. Rev. 90(2), 297 (1953), doi:10.1103/PhysRev.90.297.

- [27] R. P. Feynman, Slow Electrons in a Polar Crystal, Phys. Rev. 97(3), 660 (1955), doi:10.1103/PhysRev.97.660.
- [28] A. S. Alexandrov and J. T. Devreese, Advances in Polaron Physics, Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, doi:10.1007/978-3-642-01896-1 (2010).
- [29] J. T. Devreese and A. S. Alexandrov, Fröhlich polaron and bipolaron: Recent developments, Rep. Prog. Phys. 72(6), 066501 (2009), doi:10.1088/0034-4885/72/6/066501.
- [30] F. Chevy, Universal phase diagram of a strongly interacting Fermi gas with unbalanced spin populations, Phys. Rev. A **74**(6), 063628 (2006), doi:10.1103/PhysRevA.74.063628.
- [31] C. Lobo, A. Recati, S. Giorgini and S. Stringari, Normal State of a Polarized Fermi Gas at Unitarity, Phys. Rev. Lett. 97(20), 200403 (2006), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.97.200403.
- [32] N. Prokof'ev and B. Svistunov, Fermi-polaron problem: Diagrammatic monte carlo method for divergent sign-alternating series, Phys. Rev. B 77, 020408 (2008), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.77.020408.
- [33] P. Massignan, M. Zaccanti and G. M. Bruun, Polarons, dressed molecules and itinerant ferromagnetism in ultracold Fermi gases, Rep. Prog. Phys. 77(3), 034401 (2014), doi:10.1088/0034-4885/77/3/034401.
- [34] A. Schirotzek, C.-H. Wu, A. Sommer and M. W. Zwierlein, Observation of Fermi Polarons in a Tunable Fermi Liquid of Ultracold Atoms, Phys. Rev. Lett. 102(23), 230402 (2009), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.102.230402.
- [35] S. Nascimbène, N. Navon, K. J. Jiang, L. Tarruell, M. Teichmann, J. McKeever, F. Chevy and C. Salomon, *Collective Oscillations of an Imbalanced Fermi Gas: Axial Compression Modes and Polaron Effective Mass*, Phys. Rev. Lett. **103**(17), 170402 (2009), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.103.170402.
- [36] C. Kohstall, M. Zaccanti, M. Jag, A. Trenkwalder, P. Massignan, G. M. Bruun, F. Schreck and R. Grimm, *Metastability and coherence of repulsive polarons in a strongly interacting Fermi mixture*, Nature 485(7400), 615 (2012), doi:10.1038/nature11065.
- [37] M. Koschorreck, D. Pertot, E. Vogt, B. Fröhlich, M. Feld and M. Köhl, Attractive and repulsive Fermi polarons in two dimensions, Nature 485(7400), 619 (2012), doi:10.1038/nature11151.
- [38] Y. Zhang, W. Ong, I. Arakelyan and J. E. Thomas, Polaron-to-Polaron Transitions in the Radio-Frequency Spectrum of a Quasi-Two-Dimensional Fermi Gas, Phys. Rev. Lett. 108(23), 235302 (2012), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.108.235302.
- [39] M. Cetina, M. Jag, R. S. Lous, I. Fritsche, J. T. M. Walraven, R. Grimm, J. Levinsen, M. M. Parish, R. Schmidt, M. Knap and E. Demler, Ultrafast many-body interferometry of impurities coupled to a Fermi sea, Science 354(6308), 96 (2016), doi:10.1126/science.aaf5134.
- [40] F. Scazza, G. Valtolina, P. Massignan, A. Recati, A. Amico, A. Burchianti, C. Fort, M. Inguscio, M. Zaccanti and G. Roati, *Repulsive Fermi Polarons in a Resonant Mixture of Ultracold* ⁶Li *Atoms*, Phys. Rev. Lett. **118**(8), 083602 (2017), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.118.083602.

- [41] N. Darkwah Oppong, L. Riegger, O. Bettermann, M. Höfer, J. Levinsen, M. M. Parish, I. Bloch and S. Fölling, Observation of Coherent Multiorbital Polarons in a Two-Dimensional Fermi Gas, Phys. Rev. Lett. 122(19), 193604 (2019), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.122.193604.
- [42] Z. Yan, P. B. Patel, B. Mukherjee, R. J. Fletcher, J. Struck and M. W. Zwierlein, *Boiling a Unitary Fermi Liquid*, Phys. Rev. Lett. **122**(9), 093401 (2019), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.122.093401.
- [43] G. Ness, C. Shkedrov, Y. Florshaim, O. K. Diessel, J. von Milczewski, R. Schmidt and Y. Sagi, Observation of a Smooth Polaron-Molecule Transition in a Degenerate Fermi Gas, Phys. Rev. X 10(4), 041019 (2020), doi:10.1103/PhysRevX.10.041019.
- [44] M. Sidler, P. Back, O. Cotlet, A. Srivastava, T. Fink, M. Kroner, E. Demler and A. Imamoglu, *Fermi polaron-polaritons in charge-tunable atomically thin semiconductors*, Nature Physics 13(3), 255 (2017), doi:10.1038/nphys3949.
- [45] L. B. Tan, O. Cotlet, A. Bergschneider, R. Schmidt, P. Back, Y. Shimazaki, M. Kroner and A. İmamoğlu, *Interacting Polaron-Polaritons*, Phys. Rev. X 10(2), 021011 (2020), doi:10.1103/PhysRevX.10.021011.
- [46] M. A. Bastarrachea-Magnani, A. Camacho-Guardian and G. M. Bruun, Attractive and repulsive exciton-polariton interactions mediated by an electron gas, Phys. Rev. Lett. 126, 127405 (2021), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.126.127405.
- [47] A. Julku, M. A. Bastarrachea-Magnani, A. Camacho-Guardian and G. M. Bruun, Bose-Einstein condensation of exciton polaron-polaritons, ArXiv 2103.16313 (2021).
- [48] J. Tempere, W. Casteels, M. K. Oberthaler, S. Knoop, E. Timmermans and J. T. Devreese, *Feynman path-integral treatment of the BEC-impurity polaron*, Phys. Rev. B 80(18), 184504 (2009), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.80.184504.
- [49] S. P. Rath and R. Schmidt, Field-theoretical study of the Bose polaron, Phys. Rev. A 88(5), 053632 (2013), doi:10.1103/PhysRevA.88.053632.
- [50] A. Shashi, F. Grusdt, D. A. Abanin and E. Demler, Radio-frequency spectroscopy of polarons in ultracold Bose gases, Phys. Rev. A 89(5), 053617 (2014), doi:10.1103/PhysRevA.89.053617.
- [51] R. S. Christensen, J. Levinsen and G. M. Bruun, Quasiparticle Properties of a Mobile Impurity in a Bose-Einstein Condensate, Phys. Rev. Lett. 115(16), 160401 (2015), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.115.160401.
- [52] J. Levinsen, M. M. Parish and G. M. Bruun, Impurity in a Bose-Einstein Condensate and the Efimov Effect, Phys. Rev. Lett. 115(12), 125302 (2015), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.115.125302.
- [53] J. Vlietinck, W. Casteels, K. V. Houcke, J. Tempere, J. Ryckebusch and J. T. Devreese, *Diagrammatic Monte Carlo study of the acoustic and the Bose-Einstein* condensate polaron, New J. Phys. **17**(3), 033023 (2015), doi:10.1088/1367-2630/17/3/033023.
- [54] Y. E. Shchadilova, R. Schmidt, F. Grusdt and E. Demler, Quantum Dynamics of Ultracold Bose Polarons, Phys. Rev. Lett. 117(11), 113002 (2016), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.117.113002.

- [55] F. Grusdt, G. E. Astrakharchik and E. Demler, Bose polarons in ultracold atoms in one dimension: Beyond the Fröhlich paradigm, New J. Phys. 19(10), 103035 (2017), doi:10.1088/1367-2630/aa8a2e.
- [56] N.-E. Guenther, P. Massignan, M. Lewenstein and G. M. Bruun, Bose Polarons at Finite Temperature and Strong Coupling, Phys. Rev. Lett. 120(5), 050405 (2018), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.120.050405.
- [57] L. A. P. Ardila, G. E. Astrakharchik and S. Giorgini, Strong coupling Bose polarons in a two-dimensional gas, Phys. Rev. Research 2(2), 023405 (2020), doi:10.1103/PhysRevResearch.2.023405.
- [58] D. Dzsotjan, R. Schmidt and M. Fleischhauer, Dynamical Variational Approach to Bose Polarons at Finite Temperatures, Phys. Rev. Lett. 124(22), 223401 (2020), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.124.223401.
- [59] J. Catani, G. Lamporesi, D. Naik, M. Gring, M. Inguscio, F. Minardi, A. Kantian and T. Giamarchi, *Quantum dynamics of impurities in a one-dimensional Bose gas*, Phys. Rev. A 85(2), 023623 (2012), doi:10.1103/PhysRevA.85.023623.
- [60] M.-G. Hu, M. J. Van de Graaff, D. Kedar, J. P. Corson, E. A. Cornell and D. S. Jin, Bose Polarons in the Strongly Interacting Regime, Phys. Rev. Lett. 117(5), 055301 (2016), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.117.055301.
- [61] N. B. Jørgensen, L. Wacker, K. T. Skalmstang, M. M. Parish, J. Levinsen, R. S. Christensen, G. M. Bruun and J. J. Arlt, Observation of Attractive and Repulsive Polarons in a Bose-Einstein Condensate, Phys Rev Lett 117(5), 055302 (2016), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.117.055302.
- [62] F. Camargo, R. Schmidt, J. D. Whalen, R. Ding, G. Woehl, S. Yoshida, J. Burgdörfer, F. B. Dunning, H. R. Sadeghpour, E. Demler and T. C. Killian, *Creation of Rydberg Polarons in a Bose Gas*, Phys. Rev. Lett. **120**(8), 083401 (2018), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.120.083401.
- [63] Z. Z. Yan, Y. Ni, C. Robens and M. W. Zwierlein, Bose polarons near quantum criticality, Science 368(6487), 190 (2020), doi:10.1126/science.aax5850.
- [64] M. G. Skou, T. G. Skov, N. B. Jørgensen, K. K. Nielsen, A. Camacho-Guardian, T. Pohl, G. M. Bruun and J. J. Arlt, Non-equilibrium quantum dynamics and formation of the Bose polaron, Nat. Phys. pp. 1–5 (2021), doi:10.1038/s41567-021-01184-5.
- [65] M. A. Bastarrachea-Magnani, A. Camacho-Guardian, M. Wouters and G. M. Bruun, Strong interactions and biexcitons in a polariton mixture, Phys. Rev. B 100, 195301 (2019), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.100.195301.
- [66] A. Camacho-Guardian, M. A. Bastarrachea-Magnani and G. M. Bruun, Mediated interactions and photon bound states in an exciton-polariton mixture, Phys. Rev. Lett. 126, 017401 (2021), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.126.017401.
- [67] A. O. Caldeira and A. J. Leggett, Influence of dissipation on quantum tunneling in macroscopic systems, Phys. Rev. Lett. 46, 211 (1981), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.46.211.
- [68] C. Gardiner and P. Zoller, *Quantum noise*, Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg (2004).

- [69] C. Ciuti and I. Carusotto, Input-output theory of cavities in the ultrastrong coupling regime: The case of time-independent cavity parameters, Phys. Rev. A 74, 033811 (2006), doi:10.1103/PhysRevA.74.033811.
- [70] M. Wouters and I. Carusotto, Parametric oscillation threshold of semiconductor microcavities in the strong coupling regime, Phys. Rev. B 75(7), 075332 (2007), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.75.075332.
- [71] M. M. Khan, H. Terças, J. T. Mendonça, J. Wehr, C. Charalambous, M. Lewenstein and M. A. Garcia-March, *Quantum dynamics of a bose polaron in a d-dimensional bose-einstein condensate*, Phys. Rev. A **103**, 023303 (2021), doi:10.1103/PhysRevA.103.023303.
- [72] R. Rossignoli and A. M. Kowalski, Complex modes in unstable quadratic bosonic forms, Phys. Rev. A 72(3), 032101 (2005), doi:10.1103/PhysRevA.72.032101.